1971

## Robert Gonzales v. John W. Turner, Warden, Utah State Prison : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a memorandum decision and order of the District Court of the Third Judicial District of Utah, denying petitioner a writ of habeas corpus.

DISPOSITION OF THE CASE BELOW

On August 28, 1970, a hearing was held in the District Court for the Third Judicial District of Utah, on the petition for writ of habeas corpus filed by the petitioner, Robert Gonzales. On September 16, 1970, the District Court, in a memorandum decision and order, denied the petition for writ of habeas corpus.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Petitioner seeks reversal of the District Court's judgment denying his petition for habeas corpus with instructions to the trial court to grant the writ, or in the alternative for a new trial.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner, Robert Gonzales, is currently incarcerated at the Utah State Prison. His incarceration is the result of a guilty plea to the crime of grand larceny entered in the Third District Court on March 1, 1969. (R. 14) (Findings - 37)

Mr. Gonzales was originally charged with grand larceny and third degree burglary in a complaint filed April 8, 1968. (R. 32) (Findings - 8). He was represented on those charges by Mr. David Bown, member of the Legal Defender's Association (R. 8). Following the preliminary hearing, the grand larceny count was dismissed and he was bound over to the District Court on the burglary charge. (R. 38) (Findings - 9)

An information was filed on May 17, 1968 on the burglary charge to which Mr. Gonzales pled not guilty. On August 15, 1968, the information was dismissed and a new complaint was filed again charging him with

grand larceny and third degree burglary in connection with the offense he had allegedly committed in April. (R. 38, 39) (Findings - 9)

On August 16, 1968, petitioner was arraigned on the grand larceny and third degree burglary charges and David Bown again represented him. A preliminary hearing was had on March 3, 1969, with John O'Connell of the Legal Defender's Office appearing as counsel, Mr. Bown having previously terminated his association with that office. (R. 33) And on March 27, 1969, an information was filed charging Mr. Gonzales with grand larceny and third degree burglary (R. 32,38,39) (Findings - 9, 10).

On March 28, 1969, petitioner was arrested on a warrant issued March 22, 1969, in the City Court charging him with grand larceny for allegedly stealing a suit (R. 21) (Findings - 10).

On March 28, 1969, petitioner was "loaded" on heroin. (R. 23) He has been addicted to heroin since 1946 (R. 20) and had gone through withdrawal on three different occasions. (R. 28) On the day of his arrest, petitioner had his last "fix", or injection of heroin, at about 7:00 A.M. (R. 30) (Findings - 10).



Following his arrest, Mr. Gonzales was taken to the City Court for arraignment on the grand larceny charge. While waiting for arraignment he conversed with David Bown who no longer represented him but had done so on the prior grand larceny and burglary charges dating from April, 1968. Petitioner told Mr. Bown that he was under arrest for theft of suits and he asked Mr. Bown if he (Mr. Bown) could get him (petitioner) "upstairs" (the District Court) to plead guilty to the other charge, i.e., the prior grand larceny charge originally filed in April of 1968. Mr. Bown had represented the petitioner on the prior charge and thought that the case "was a winner". (R. 52) Further, he said that the District Attorney had no new facts and that petitioner was "crazy if . . . (he) pled guilty to that charge." (R. 54, 37) However, petitioner said he just wanted to get it over with so he could get some help because they couldn't give him anything in the jail. (R. 37) Findings - 10).

On the day of his arraignment, Mr. Gonzales' eyes were watering, his nose was running and he appeared, to Mr. Bown, to be in pain. (R. 36) Findings - 10).

Following his arraignment, Mr. Gonzales was confined to the Salt Lake County Jail, and on March 29, 1969, he began to experience the symptoms of withdrawal, i.e., sweating, hot and cold flashes, nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, stomach pains and a general "up tight" feeling (R. 23, 24) (Findings - 11). Mr. Gonzales asked for assistance in the county jail but none was provided. (R. 25) Neither was he given any drugs to ease his withdrawal while in the jail. (Findings - 11)

On March 31, 1969, petitioner was arraigned before the District Court and he pled guilty to the grand larceny charge stemming from the alleged theft occurring in April of 1968. On the day of his arraignment, petitioner was suffering from diarrhea and vomiting, a condition that is evidence of severe heroin addiction withdrawal. (R. 13,24,45) (Findings - 11) Petitioner told his attorney, John O'Connell, that he wanted to "cop out" to grand larceny because he was sick and wanted to get out of the county jail and get some attention. He further testified that he was not guilty of the charge. (R. 27) (Findings - 11)

On the date that petitioner pled guilty to the grand larceny charge he was at the height of his heroin withdrawal (R. 48) (Findings-15). Further,



that a guilty plea is itself a conviction and should not, therefore, be accepted unless voluntarily made with full understanding of the consequences thereof.

Michibroda v. United States, 368 U.S. 487, 493 (1961).

Further, this Court has said:

That a plea of guilty must be made voluntarily, without undue influence or coercion, and with a clear understanding of what the charge is, is a self evidence proposition.

Strong v. Turner, 22 Utah 2d 294, 452 P.2d 323, 324 (1969).

Thus, the courts have recognized that for a guilty plea to be valid, it must be both voluntarily given and given with a full understanding of the consequences. However, in petitioner's hearing below it appears from the District Court's Order and Memorandum decision that any finding as to the voluntariness of petitioner's guilty plea was overlooked. The court below said:

I am entirely in agreement that a guilty plea should be set aside where it can be shown by credible evidence that a person was so mentally incompetent that he was capable of acting knowingly and intelligently. I am also of the opinion that to show such mental incompetence requires more than the showing that a person was a drug addict, or that he was experiencing withdrawal, or that he was, in fact, then under the influence of a narcotic drug. It must be shown that because of such state he was,

in fact, mentally incompetent. Neither Dr. Stokes nor Dr. Clark expressed the opinion that such was the case and Gonzales has failed to show by a preponderance of evidence that such was the case. (Memo. Decision - 17).

From the lower court's statement, cited above, it is readily apparent that the court looked only to Gonzales' mental competence in his rendering of his guilty plea, or the court must have determined that if petitioner was competent when he rendered his plea that he must also have done it voluntarily. Petitioner does not contend that he was not competent when he rendered his plea, but that due to his severe suffering from heroin withdrawal (R. 50, 51), he entered his plea involuntarily in order to get treatment.

(R. 37)

That a guilty plea may be given knowingly but not voluntarily was recognized in Munich v. United States, 337 F.2d 356 (9th Cir. 1964). In Munich, the defendant had pled guilty to a violation of the narcotics laws and on a petition for relief he claimed that his plea had been given involuntarily. The court found that the plea had been knowingly made, however, the court also said that "a defendant may understand the nature of the charge without such plea being voluntary." 337 F.2d at 360. The court

then sent the case back for a determination as to the voluntariness of the defendant's guilty plea.

Also, in Heidenman v. United States, 281 F.2d 805 (8th Cir. 1960), petitioners were seeking a writ of habeas corpus claiming that their guilty pleas were involuntary due to threats, by the prosecutor, that he would press for maximum sentences - 60 years - if they did not plead guilty; but if they would plead guilty, he would recommend five year sentences. In sending the case back for a hearing on petitioners' contentions, the court said:

A plea of guilty is not voluntary simply because it is the product of sentient choice. Conduct under duress involves a choice . . . and conduct devoid of physical pressures but not leaving a free choice is a product of duress as much so as choice reflecting physical constraints. Id. at 808. citing Haley v. State of Ohio, 332 U.S. 596.

In the present case, although petitioner's guilty plea may have been knowingly given, it was still involuntary. In a very real sense, he was under duress at the time of his plea because he was at the height of his withdrawal when it was entered. (R. 50) He had had his last "fix" of heroin on March 28, 1969, the morning of his arrest (R. 30) Findings - 10), and on the day he pled guilty to

the larceny charge, March 31, 1969, petitioner was suffering from diarrhea and vomiting, a condition that is evidence of severe heroin withdrawal. (R. 13,24,25) (Findings - 11). In fact, Dr. Clark, the State's expert witness testified that under these circumstances, it was possible that petitioner pled guilty just to get it over with. (R. 51) The Doctor further testified that petitioner may have pleaded guilty even though "his ability to think and understand" would not be impaired, because of the "very uncomfortable state" of being at the height of his withdrawal. (R. 50, 51)

Petitioner also testified, and the lower court so found, that following his arrest on March 28, 1969, he was placed in the Salt Lake County Jail where he began to experience the symptoms of withdrawal, i.e., sweating, hot and cold flashes, nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, stomach pains and a general uptight feeling; that while in jail he requested assistance, but none was provided, neither was he given any drugs to ease his withdrawal. (R. 23,24,25) (Findings - 11) Since petitioner had received no help to ease his withdrawal while in jail, it is obvious that he pled guilty in order to get medical help at the prison.



and, in fact, on the date of his arrival at the prison petitioner was admitted to the hospital for treatment of symptoms indicative of severe heroin withdrawal. (R. 5,6,13) Petitioner remained in the hospital for five days during which time he was extremely uncomfortable and had to be treated with Darvon and tranquilizers to allow him to sleep. (R. 6, 7) (Findings - 14)

Another factor that also indicates petitioner involuntarily pled guilty is that the charge to which he pled guilty, grand larceny stemming from April, 1968, had already been dismissed once, and the attorney that represented petitioner on that charge thought that petitioner's case "was a winner" (R. 52) and that petitioner was "crazy if . . . (he) pled guilty to that charge." (R. 37, 54)

In the final analysis, petitioner has testified that he was not guilty of the charge to which he pled guilty (R. 27) (Findings - 11), and that he did so only to get it over with so he could get some medical help to ease his withdrawal and he couldn't get that help in the jail even though he had requested it. (R. 37) (Findings - 10). Petitioner was in extreme discomfort at the time he pleaded guilty and



even the State's expert witness testified this may have influenced his decision. (R. 50, 51) Thus, even though his plea may have been competent, all indications point to the conclusion that due to the extreme discomfort caused by petitioner's severe withdrawal from heroin, his plea of guilty was not voluntary and hence he was denied due process under the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States.

Petitioner submits that:

a plea of guilty need be deemed involuntary only where it appears that the defendant was laboring under such a strong inducement, fundamental mistake, or serious mental condition that the possibility exists that he may have pleaded guilty to a crime of which he is innocent. State v. Petke, 389 P.2d 164, at 169 (Mont. 1964)

Petitioner contends that the lower court failed to find that his plea was voluntary, and that in fact the facts and circumstances surrounding his plea show that his plea of guilty was involuntarily rendered due to his physical and mental suffering caused by a severe withdrawal from heroin addiction.

## CONCLUSION

On the basis of the facts of this case, it is apparent that petitioner did not voluntarily plead guilty to the grand larceny charge for which he is now incarcerated; this due to the fact that he was under extreme physical stress from severe withdrawal from heroin addiction.

Petitioner prays, therefore, that the judgment of the District Court be reversed with instructions to the court to grant the writ of habeas corpus, or in the alternative for a new trial.