1971

Robert Gonzales v. John W. Turner, Warden, Utah State Prison :Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a memorandum decision denying appellant's writ of habeas corpus in the District Court of the Third Judicial District, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable Bryant H. Croft, Judge, presiding.

DISPOSITION OF THE CASE IN THE LOWER COURT

The District Court denied petitioner's petition for writ of habeas corpus in a memorandum decision and order dated September 16, 1970, after having heard argument on the matter August 28, 1970.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent submits that the decision and order of the District Court be affirmed and that the alternative request for a new trial be denied.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent agrees generally with the facts as stated by appellant, with the following clarifications:

Upon entering a guilty plea in the District Court of the Third Judicial District, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, March 31, 1969, the Honorable Merrill C. Faux, Judge, presiding, the following proceedings took place:

THE COURT: Fourth case, No. 21529; State against Robert Gonzales. "Robert Gonzales" your true and correct name?

MR. GONZALES: Yes.

THE COURT: Let the record show he has received a copy of the information. The Clerk will read the information to you.

(The Clerk reads the information to the defendant.)

THE COURT: Did you hear the charge as the Clerk read it?

MR. GONZALES: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Are you ready to plead?

MR. GONZALES: Yes.

MR. O'CONNELL: Your Honor, can we take the pleas separately for each count? Different pleas.

THE COURT: Yes; you are charged in two counts; first count charges Burglary in the Third Degree. Are you ready to plead to that?

MR. GONZALES: Yes.

THE COURT: What is your plea?

A. (By Mr. Gonzales): Not guilty.

THE COURT: Not guilty of Burglary. Second count charges Grand Larceny.

MR. GONZALES: Guilty.

THE COURT: Have the problem, then, of imposing sentence.

MR. O'CONNELL: Your Honor, may I have the convenience of the record?

THE COURT: Yes, you may.

MR. O'CONNELL: Are you entering this plea of "guilty" of your own free will?

MR. GONZALES: Yes, I am.

MR. O'CONNELL: Have I — you realize, don't you, that you could enter a plea of "not guilty" and have the matter tried to a jury, if you wish?

MR. GONZALES: Yes.

MR. O'CONNELL: You are willing to give up that right to a trial?

MR. GONZALES: Yes.

MR. O'CONNELL: You are doing this because you, are, in fact, guilty of Grand Larceny on this charge?

MR. GONZALES: Yes.

MR. O'CONNELL: Any promises made, or threats made, to induce you to do this against your free will?

MR. GONZALES: No.

MR. O'CONNELL: Your Honor, I would waive the time for sentencing, ask for sentence, at this time, on the Grand Larceny count. Is that what you wish for?

MR. GONZALES: Yes, that is what I wish.

THE COURT: Then, I sentence you, Robert Gonzales, to the Utah State Prison, and the judgment of the court is that you serve the indeterminate term provided by law for the crime of Grand Larceny.

Commitment will issue forthwith.

MR. LEWIS: If the Court, please, based upon the entry of the plea to the Grand Larceny and the fact that he has been sentenced to the State Prison, it would be the State's motion Count 1 of the information be dismissed, in the interest of justice.

THE COURT: Count 1 is dismissed.

(End of this record.)

Thereafter, Mr. Gonzales contested the validity of that guilty plea in the District Court of the Third Judicial District, in and for Salt Lake Count, State of Utah, August 28, 1970, the Honorable Bryant H. Croft, Judge, presiding.

At that hearing, Mr. Gonzales requested relief on his petition (R. 52), wherein he claimed that his detention was unlawful on the grounds his guilty plea was entered

involuntarily in that he was suffering heroin withdrawal, and therefore could not offer a knowing and intelligent plea. He complained further that he pleaded guilty to a crime he did not commit, in that he entered the plea merely to get relief. (R. 21).

He was represented at the guilty plea hearing, and at the habeas corpus hearing by very able attorneys. (R. 17), (R. 50).

Mr. Gonzales testified that he did consume drugs, and that he went out stealing every day but Sunday to finance his habit. (R. 80).

According to expert testimony the physical discomfort Gonzales experienced was not at all intolerable. (R. 98). Furthermore, the discomfort could not impair understanding, even though it might influence a decision. (R. 100). There is no evidence, whatsoever, that the withdrawal was severe.

In a thorough opinion, Judge Croft denied the petition for a writ of habeas corpus. (R. 27-43).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PETITIONER'S GUILTY PLEA WAS NOT INVALID ON THE GROUNDS IT WAS MOTIVATED BY DESIRE TO GET RELIEF FROM HEROIN WITHDRAWAL BECAUSE THE PLEA WAS VOLUNTARY, KNOWING, INTELLIGENT, AND ENTERED BY HIM WHILE REPRESENTED BY COMPETENT COUNSEL.

The test of guilty plea validity is whether it is voluntary, knowing, and intelligent at the time it is entered. *McCarthy v. United States*, 394 U.S. 459, 22 L.Ed. 2d 418, 89 S.Ct. 1166 (1969). The motivation for entering the plea is not relevant. A guilty plea is not invalid merely because it was entered to get a lesser penalty, *Brady v. United States*, 397 U.S. 742, 25 L. Ed. 2d 747, 90 S.Ct. 1463 (1970); was motivated by an unconstitutionally obtained confession, *McMann v. Richardson*, 397 U.S. 759, 25 L.Ed. 2d 763, 90 S. Ct. 1441 (1970); or was motivated by fear of death penalty, *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25, 27 L. Ed 2d 162, 91 S.Ct. 160 (1970).

If fear of death cannot invalidate a guilty plea, certainly anxiety and discomfort associated with a heroin withdrawal cannot invalidate the plea, especially where the withdrawal is not severe.

Hope for relief from drug does not render a guilty plea invalid. *Buford v. United States*, 337 F.2d 439 (7th Cir. 1964); *Gibilterra v. United States*, 428 F.2d 393 (9th Cir. 1970).

In case at bar there is expert testimony that the withdrawal of appellant was not severe, and could not impair his judgment, even though he may have been in pain. (R. 100). Where defendant in criminal case is not suffering pain caused by withdrawal from narcotics which is so severe as to prevent him from comprehending his position, he is mentally competent to enter guilty plea. *Lipcomb v. United States*, 209 F. 2d 831 (8th Cir. 1954).

Thus, the guilty plea is not invalid merely because appellant may have been suffering some pain incident to heroin withdrawal. There is no evidence in the record to show that the plea was not valid. The record is clear that Mr. Gonzales knew the nature of the charge against him and entered the plea on his own free will (R. 17-19), while represented by able counsel. (R. 17).

CONCLUSION

Appellant's guilty plea may have been motivated by his desire to receive some relief, but that does not invalidate his plea.

The record shows that the plea was voluntary, knowing, and intelligent.

Therefore, respondent asks this Court to affirm the decision and order of the District Court in denying writ of habeas corpus.